
City of Kelowna
Regular Council Meeting

AGENDA
 

Tuesday, October 22, 2013

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

2. Prayer

A Prayer will be offered by Councillor Hobson.

3. Confirmation of Minutes 1 - 3

Regular Meeting - September 24, 2013

4. Bylaws Considered at Public Hearing

4.1 Bylaw No. 10890 (Z13-0031) - 260 Lake Avenue, Marianne Hill 4 - 4

To give Bylaw No. 10890 second and third reading.

5. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the following items on the Agenda
were publicized.

6. Development Permit and Development Variance Permit Reports

6.1 Bylaw No. 10874 (Z13-0025) - 2253 Wilkinson Street, Sharon & Thomas Matthes
and Caroline & Carl Maloney

5 - 5

To adopt Bylaw No. 10874 in order to rezone the subject property from the
RU2 - Medium Lot Housing Zone to the RU2c - Medium Lot Housing with
Carriage House Zone.

6.1.1 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0091 - 2253
Wilkinson Street, Sharon & Thomas Matthes and Caroline &
Carl Maloney

6 - 15

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. 
Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems
themselves affected by the required variance(s) to come forward.



A Development Variance Permit is sought to allow greater site
coverage for buildings, driveways and parking than permitted by the
Zoning Bylaw.

6.2 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0122 - 4052 Finch Road,
Paul & Leeann Payne

16 - 26

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.

To vary the maximum permitted projection into a required rear yard from
2.5m permitted to 3.3m proposed to accommodate a portion of a rear yard
deck and pergola.

6.3 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0130 -1191 Kelview St,
Brian & Susie Reese

27 - 39

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.

To consider a Development Variance Permit to reduce the minimum lot depth
from 30.0 metres required to 29.49 metres and 22.02 metres proposed. The
variances are being proposed for two lots which do not presently exist.
Council’s authorization of the variances is a prerequisite for the Approving
Officer to create three parcels from the existing parcel.

6.4 Bylaw No. 10885 (Z13-0028) - 3935 Lakeshore Road and adjacent Bed of
Mission Creek, Braniff Real Estate Services Inc. et al

40 - 41

To adopt Bylaw No. 10885 (Z13-0028) in order to rezone portions of the
subject properties from the C1 - Local Commercial Zone to the C3 -
Community Commercial Zone, from the C1 - Local Commercial Zone to the
RU5 - Bareland Strata Zone and from the RU5 - Bareland Strata Zone to the C3
- Community Commercial Zone.

6.4.1 Development Permit Application No. DP13-0105 and Development
Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0148 - 3935 Lakeshore Road
and adjacent Bed of Mission Creek, Braniff Real Estate Services Inc.
et al

42 - 68

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received. 
Mayor to invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves
affected by the required variance(s) to come forward.

To consider the merits of a proposal for three variances: to reduce
the minimum side yard setback abutting residential development, to
reduce the minimum landscape buffer, and to reduce the minimum
setback for vehicle parking.  Council is also asked to consider the
form and character of the proposed three-storey retail/office
building on the subject property.



6.5 Development Variance Permit Application No. DVP13-0143 - 1125 Richter St,
Canrim Packaging Ltd. Inc.

69 - 80

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.

The purpose of the application is to seek certain variances to Zoning Bylaw
8000 to facilitate the redevelopment of an accessory parking area to serve a
proposed new winery retail store and tasting room in an existing industrial
winery building on the subject property. The application proposes a variance
to the minimum required parking setback on Vaughan Avenue from 2 m
required to 0.1 m proposed, and to the minimum required landscape buffer on
Vaughan Avenue from 3 m required to 0.1 m proposed.

6.6 Development Permit Application No. DP13-0131 and Development Variance
Permit Application No. DVP13-0132 - Buckland and Rowcliffe Ave, City of
Kelowna/Meiklejohn Architects Inc.

81 - 109

City Clerk to state for the record any correspondence received.  Mayor to
invite anyone in the public gallery who deems themselves affected by the
required variance(s) to come forward.

To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of the proposed
70 unit supportive housing development. To consider a Development Variance
Permit to vary the requirement that all parking and loading be below grade or
under building and screened from view to allow surface parking.

7. Reminders

8. Termination



1



2



3



4



5



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 12, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-40 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning and Real Estate (BD) 

Application: DVP13-0091 Owner: 
Sharon Elaine and Thomas 
William Matthes & Caroline 
Mary and Carl Steve Maloney 

Address: 2253 Wilkinson Street Applicant: Thomas Matthes 

Subject: 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0091 2253 Wilkinson Street   

Existing OCP Designation: Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU2- Medium Lot Housing 

Proposed Zone: RU2c – Medium Lot Housing with Carriage House 

 
1.0 Recommendation 

THAT final adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10874 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0091, for 
Lot 5, District Lot 136, ODYD, Plan KAP89721, located at 2253 Wilkinson Street, Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
Section 13.2.6 (a): Site Coverage 
 
        To vary the permitted site coverage of buildings and hard surfaces from 50% permitted to 
        75% proposed (as per Schedule A). 

2.0 Purpose   

A Development Variance Permit is sought to allow greater site coverage for buildings, driveways 
and parking than permitted by the Zoning Bylaw. 

3.0 Urban Planning  

This application is seeking to obtain rezoning final adoption and a variance to relax the site 
coverage from 50% permitted to 75%. The variance will allow the property owner to maintain the 
site as it currently exists.   

The immediate neighbourhood block was originally developed with 1½ storey garages to provide 
storage space in the upper half storey. The Building Permit was approved with a gravel driveway; 

6



DVP13-0091 – Page 2 

 
however, the developer paved three property’s driveways after occupancy. The resulting site 
coverage exceeds the permitted 50% and has triggered a variance.  
 
Technical comments provided by the Building and Permitting department and the Development 
Engineering branch do not identify drainage or other concerns. Staff have verified that the site 
coverage was an existing condition at purchase.  Nevertheless, if this were not an existing 
condition, planning Staff would not be in a position to support the application, given the negative 
impact to the overall neighbourhood.  
 
Steps have been taken by Staff to inform the remaining properties owners of non-conforming site 
coverage issues and advise them that it must be addressed prior to any further development or 
site changes.  Favorably, support from the immediate property owners has been provided. Future 
infill sites that are rezoned to medium sized lots will be more comprehensively evaluated to 
determine the ultimate build-out potential where no lane access is provided. 

4.0 Proposal 

The subdivision was planned with a laneway to provide access to the garages, however, due to 
neighbourhood opposition the laneway was never constructed. The development was constructed 
with detached garages and the accesses were paved after receiving final occupancy. Given the 
small size of the site, the pavement contributed to exceeding the allowable site coverage.   
 
The applicant recently received third reading by Council to allow the conversion of the garage to 
a carriage house. The applicant contacted all neighbours within a 50m radius to advise them of 
the proposal. Given that a neighbouring property has successfully received a variance for the 
same concern, the immediate neighbours are familiar with the nature of the variance request 
and are mixed in their support.    

4.1 Site Context 

The subject property is located in the Central City area of Kelowna. The Guisachan Village area is 
within walking distance with transit available on Gordon Avenue and Springfield Road. The 
subject property is located within the Permanent Growth Boundary. The surrounding properties 
in all directions are zoned RU2 – Medium Lot Housing with single family dwellings. 

4.2       Subject Property Map: 2253 Wilkinson Street 

 

4.3    The proposed application meets the requirements of RU2c – Medium Lot Housing with 
carriage house zone as follows:  

7



DVP13-0091 – Page 3 

 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU2c ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 400 m2 568 m2 

Lot Width 13 m 13.6 m 

Lot Depth 30 m 41.16 m 

Site Coverage (buildings) 40% 38.78 % 

Site Coverage  
(buildings and Parking) 

50% 75%  

Development Regulations 
Principal Dwelling 

Height   9.5 m/ 2 ½ storeys 9.2m to peak 1.5 storeys 

Front Yard    4.5 m or 6.0 m to garage 6.0m 

Side Yard (north) 
  1.5 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 
1.8 m (2 - 2 ½ storey) 

3.16 m 

Side Yard (south) 
 1.5 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 
1.8 m (2 - 2 ½ storey) 

1.8 m 

Rear Yard 
 6.0 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 
7.5 m (2 - 2 ½ storey) 

19.2m 

Proposed Carriage house conversion 

Height  1 ½ storeys / 4.5 m 4.5 m 

Front Yard       4.5 m   31.4 m 

Side Yard (n)   1.5 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 1.8 m 

Side Yard (s)  1.5 m (1 - 1 ½ storey) 1.5 m 

Rear yard   1.5m 1.5 m 

Minimum Distance to Principal 

Dwelling 

4.5m 9.4 m 

 

Development Regulations 

Floor Area Ratio 
May not exceed the lesser of 

90 m2  or 75% 
 

Principal dwelling:  189.5 m2   
Carriage House: 65 m2  

34 % 

Parking Stalls (#)  3 spaces required 3 spaces  

Private Open Space 
30 m2 of private open space 

per dwelling 

meets requirements with 

designated patio area 

 Variance required to site coverage. 

5.0 Current Development Policies   

5.1 Zoning Bylaw 8000  

Section 13.2.6 Development Regulations 

(a) The maximum site coverage is 40% and together with driveways and parking areas, 
shall not exceed 50%. 
 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Development Services Department 

8



DVP13-0091 – Page 4 

 
The developer admitted pouring the driveway at this address post occupancy, therefore 
the hard surfaces were in place when the applicant purchased the site.  Site drainage 
functions adequately, therefore the Development Services Department has no concerns 
with this application. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

This Development Variance Permit application to vary the site coverage does not 
compromise any municipal services provided that roof leaders are not connected to the 
storm service. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: June 6, 2013  
Rezoning Public Hearing:  August 27, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Birte Decloux, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble-Brandt, Urban Planning Manager 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Division Director, Community Planning 
and Real Estate 

Attachments:   

 Site/Landscape Plan 

 Site Photos 

9



10



11



12



13



14



15



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 11, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: DVP13-0122 Owner: 
Paul Graham Payne                      
Leeann Ernestine Payne 

Address: 4052 Finch Road Applicant: Jeff Corrin, Pro Contractors 

Subject: 2013-10-08 Report DVP13-0122 4052 Finch Rd  

Existing OCP Designation: REP – Resource Protection Area 

Existing Zone: RR3 – Rural Residential 3 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0122 for Lot 
13, Sections 32 and 33, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 13462, located at 4052 Finch Road, Kelowna, 
BC; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT a variance to the following section of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 6.4.2: Development Regulations 
To vary maximum permitted projection into rear yard from 2.5 m permitted to 3.3 m proposed, 
as per Schedule ‘A’.  

2.0 Purpose 

To vary the maximum permitted projection into a required rear yard from 2.5 m permitted to 
3.3 m proposed to accommodate a portion of a rear yard deck and pergola.  

3.0 Urban Planning 

Urban Planning staff is supportive of the proposed modest variance to the Zoning Bylaw to 
accommodate the existing remodeled deck on the subject property. While the remodeled deck 
structure encroaches on the Riparian Management Area (RMA) setback, measured 15 m upland 
from the Natural Boundary of Okanagan Lake, staff is not concerned as the deck is built above an 
existing cement patio that was previously approved by the City of Kelowna in 2002, under an 
earlier regulatory regime.  

 

 

16



DVP13-0122 – Page 2 

 
 

The remodeled and extended deck, having been constructed above existing cement patio, does 
not remove landscaped rear yard area. Additionally, the trellis of the overhead pergola is 
proposed to be cut back to align with the deck and pergola posts to minimize the requested 
variance. The proposed deck does not impinge on the sight lines of adjacent neighbours to 
Okanagan Lake, nor impact maximum site coverage.  

In accordance with Council Policy 367 – Public Notification & Consultation for Development 
Applications, the applicant has provided notification of the proposed Development Variance 
Permit application to neighbouring properties within 50 m of the subject site. To date, staff has 
not been contacted with any concerns regarding the proposed variance.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

In 2002, a Building Permit Application BP21949 was approved for renovations and additions to the 
existing, lakefront cottage on the subject site, including a rear, grade-level patio and main-level 
deck above. 

In July 2013, the City identified that works had occurred on the subject property without the 
required permits. Works underway within the 15 m Okanagan Lake Riparian Management Area 
(RMA) to extend retaining wall and patio were removed and restored to sod. The subject 
Development Variance Permit Application DVP13-0122 was submitted on August 1, 2013 to 
address the remodeled rear deck and pergola. 

4.2 Project Description 

Several years ago, the property owner hired a contractor to remodel the existing rear deck at the 
main floor level of the subject house and to build a pergola overtop to provide shade. This work 
was completed without permit, and extended the deck beyond the one previously approved 
under a Building Permit in 2002. (See attached photos of existing remodelled deck and pergola). 

The Zoning Bylaw permits a maximum projection of 2.5 m into required rear yard, where the rear 
yard is greater than 6 m in depth. The remodelled rear deck (and pergola posts) extends 3.3 m 
into the required 7.5 m rear yard. The existing pergola trellis extends another approximate 2 m 
beyond the deck (and pergola posts). The subject Development Variance Permit application 
proposes to vary the maximum permitted projection into required rear yard from 2.5 m required 
to 3.3 m proposed to accommodate the existing remodelled deck (and pergola posts), a variance 
of  0.8 m. The existing pergola trellis is proposed to be cut back to align with the deck and 
pergola posts.    

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is located on the west side of Finch Road, within a small, lakefront 
subdivision in the northern part of the McKinley area. The surrounding area is characterized by 
large, steeply sloped, rural residential lots with lakefront homes, and is largely undeveloped east 
of Finch Road.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RR3 – Rural Residential 3 Single Family House 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Undeveloped 

South RR3(c) – Rural Residential 3 with Carriage House Single Family House & Carriage House 

West W1 – Recreational Water Use Okanagan Lake 

17



DVP13-0122 – Page 3 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 4052 Finch Road 

 
 

5.0 Technical Comments  

5.1 Building & Permitting Department 

Structure was built without permits, so Structural Engineering is required at time of Building 
Permit application. Full plan review for compliance will be done at time of permit application. 

5.2 Development Engineering Department 

The application for a Development Variance Permit to vary section 6.4.2 to increase the 
maximum projection permitted into rear yard from 2.5 m permitted to 3.3 m proposed does not 
compromise the municipal servicing requirements. 

5.3 Subdivision, Agriculture & Environment Department 

The Subdivision, Agriculture and Environment Department is not concerned about the deck or 
pergola being built within the Riparian Management Area of Okanagan lake, since it was built 
directly over top a cement patio, which was previously approved by the City of Kelowna in 2002. 

5.4  Fire Department 

No concerns. 
 
  

18



DVP13-0122 – Page 4 

 
 

5.5  FortisBC (Electric) 
 

There are primary distribution facilities bisecting the subject property. These facilities appear to 
be adequately protected by existing land rights. The applicant is responsible for costs associated 
with any change to the subject property's existing service, if any, as well as the provision of 
appropriate land rights where required. Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with 
this circulation. 
 
In order to initiate the design process, the customer must call 1-866-4FORTIS (1-866-436-7847).  
It should be noted that additional land rights issues may arise from the design process but can be 
dealt with at that time, prior to construction.   

6.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received:  August 1, 2013  
Supplementary Materials Received:  August 13 & 21 and September 5, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Abigail Riley, Urban Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Land Use 
 

Approved for Inclusion  Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning &  
Real Estate Services 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Site Plans 
Context/Site Photos 
Draft Development Variance Permit 

19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 27, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Greg Sauer, Land Use Planner 

Application: DVP13-0130 Owner: 
Bryan Reese 
Susie Reese 

Address: 1191 Kelview Street Applicant: Bryan Reese 

Subject: Development Variance Permit 

Existing OCP Designation: Single/Two Unit Residential 

Existing Zone: RU1 – Large Lot Housing 

 
1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0130, for Lot 1, 
Section 30, Township 26, ODYD Plan 4411, located at 1191 Kelview Street, Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 13.1.5(b) Subdivision Regulations 
To vary the minimum lot depth from 30.0 m required to 29.49 m proposed for proposed Lot B; 
 
Section 13.1.5(b) Subdivision Regulations 
To vary the minimum lot depth from 30.0 m required to 22.02 m proposed for proposed Lot C. 

2.0 Purpose 

To consider a Development Variance Permit to reduce the minimum lot depth from 30.0 metres 
required to 29.49 metres and 22.02 metres proposed.  The variances are being proposed for two 
lots which do not presently exist.  Council’s authorization of the variances is a prerequisite for 
the Approving Officer to create three parcels from the existing parcel.  

3.0 Land Use Planning Comments 

Staff are supportive of the two lot depth variances being proposed.  The impacts arising from the 
proposed lot depth variances are largely limited to the subject property and to the future lots 
that will be made possible by way of the proposed variances while the minimum lot size is met.   

Further, staff feel that the proposed subdivision and development represent a sensitive infill 
within an existing neighbourhood.  The added density is in a good geographic location - in close 
proximity to transit, the City’s downtown and a number of Urban Centres.  The addition of two 

27



DVP13-0130 – Page 2 

 
 

new lots and dwellings is not expected to create noticeable negative impacts for existing 
residents, though some additional traffic is inevitable on these relatively quiet roads.  

The redevelopment of this parcel will contribute to a more functional road right of way (Koby 
Court) as the currently unfinished cul-de-sac can be completed as a result of land dedication.  
Staff will also contemplate pedestrian mobility on both Koby Court and Kelview Street with an 
ability to require sidewalk construction as part of the development, or accept cash in-lieu for 
construction in the future. 

The incremental increase in density is also supported by City of Kelowna policy.     

Public Notification/Consultation 

As per Council Policy 367 - Public Notification & Consultation for Development Applications, 
applicants are expected to undertake neighbour consultation within 50 metres of the subject 
property.  The applicant has been very receptive to his obligations to consult the neighbourhood 
and has been proactive in doing so.  

Staff are in receipt of the correspondence (including proposed lot layout) that was provided to 
affected properties.  The applicant notes that all but one property owner was supportive of the 
proposal.   

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Background/Description 

The applicant has recently acquired the subject property with the intent of adding minimal 
density to the established single family neighbourhood.  The RU1 zoned residential parcel size is 
large, relatively speaking.  The subject property is ~1,950 m2 while properties along Koby Court 
and Kelview Street average 820 m2.  Properties west of Kelview Street are much larger however.   

The applicant proposes to subdivide the existing parcel into three smaller parcels averaging 
approximately 610 m2 where the minimum parcel size is 585 m2.  The City has an interest in 
completing the cul-de-sac at the end of Koby Court.  The redevelopment of this property would 
allow for this to occur as the City would obtain a dedication of approximately 46 m2 through the 
subdivision for cul-de-sac completion.  The subject property owner will also be responsible for 
frontage upgrades.  

The project compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA RU1 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Subdivision Regulations (Lot A) 
Lot Area 550 m2 585 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m >16.5 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 30.0 m 

Subdivision Regulations (Lot B) 
Lot Area 550 m2 623 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m >16.5 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 29.49 m  

Subdivision Regulations (Lot C) 
Lot Area 550 m2 626 m2 

Lot Width 16.5 m > 16.5 m 

Lot Depth 30.0 m 22.02 m 

 Indicates a variance to lot depth. 

28



DVP13-0130 – Page 3 

 
 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject property is located between Kelview Street and Koby Court just north of Clement 
Avenue. The subject property is at the end of two cul-de-sac’s with access/egress via Cerise 
Drive to the east.  Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Urban Residential 

East RU1 – Large Lot Housing Urban Residential 
South RU1 – Large Lot Housing Urban Residential 
West RU1 – Large Lot Housing Urban Residential 

 
Subject Property Map: 1191 Kelview Street 

 
 

29



DVP13-0130 – Page 4 

 
 

Proposed Three Lot Subdivision 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies & Guidelines 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Develop sustainably1 

Policy .4 Complete Communities. Support the development of complete communities with a 
minimum intensity of approximately 35 - 40 people and/or jobs per hectare to support basic 
transit service - a bus every 30 minutes. 

Ensure context sensitive housing development2 

Policy .6 Sensitive Infill. Encourage new development or redevelopment in existing residential 
areas to be sensitive to or reflect the character of the neighborhood with respect to building 
design, height and siting. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Subdivision Approvals 

No concerns with requested variances given the overall lot sizes.  However, building envelope 
covenants may be required through the PLR process. 

6.2 Fortis BC, Electric 

There are no primary facilities within close proximity to the subject property.  It appears that 
nearby properties, including the subject, as well as streetlighting is fed from underground 
secondary extensions.  It is likely that a primary extension will be required in order to service the 
proposed lots fronting on Koby Court.  Currently, no arrangements have been made to ensure 

                                                
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan. Development Process Chapter – Chapter 5.  P. 5.2. 
2 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan. Development Process Chapter – Chapter 5.  P. 5.27. 

Proposed 
Subdivision 
Lines 

Proposed 
Road 
Dedication 
for Cul-De-
Sac 

30



DVP13-0130 – Page 5 

 
 

that they can be serviced or to inquire as to the potentially significant cost to do so.  The 
applicant is responsible for costs associated with any change to the proposed lots' existing 
service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

Otherwise, FortisBC Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Application Received:      August 13, 2013 
Neighbourhood Consultation Correspondence Received:  September 24, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Greg Sauer, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Todd Cashin, Manager, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment Services 

 

Approved for Inclusion:  Shelley Gambacort, Director, Subdivision, Agriculture & 
Environment Services 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Proposed Subdivision Plan/Lot Layout 
Neighbourhood Consultation Correspondence (2 pages) 
Draft Permit (4 pages) 

31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 25, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Application: DVP13-0148 / DP13-0105 Owner: 
Braniff Real Estate Services 
Inc. 

Address: 3935 Lakeshore Road Applicant: Michael Hoffman 

Subject: 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0148_DP13-0105 3935 Lakeshore Rd   

Existing OCP Designation: 
COMM – Commercial 
PARK – Major Parks & Open Space 

Existing Zone: 
C3 – Community Commercial 
RU5 – Bareland Strata 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT final adoption of Zone Amending Bylaw No. 10885 be considered by Council; 
 
AND THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Permit No. DP13-0105 for Lot A, 
Section 6, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 12477, Except Plan KAP92361, located on 3935 Lakeshore 
Road, Kelowna, BC subject to the following: 
 
1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “A”; 
 
2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land, be in general 
accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule “C”; 
 
4. The applicant be required to post with the City, a Landscape Performance Security deposit in 
the form of a “Letter of Credit” in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the landscaping, 
as determined by a Landscape Architect; 
 
AND THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0148, for 
Lot A, Section 6, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 12477, Except Plan KAP92361, located on 3935 
Lakeshore Road, Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
           Section 14.3.5(e): Development Regulations 

42



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 2 

 
 

           To vary minimum side yard setback from 2.0m permitted to 0.0m proposed, as per  
           Schedule ‘A’. 
 
           Section 8.1.10(d): Off-Street Vehicle Parking 
           To vary the minimum side yard setback for off-street vehicle parking in non-residential             
           zones from 1.5m permitted to 0.0m proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 
 
           Table 7.1: Minimum Landscape Buffer Treatment Levels Schedule 
           To vary the minimum side yard landscape buffer from Level 3 permitted to Level 1                
           proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted conditions within 180 
days of Council’s approval of the Development Permit & Development Variance Permit 
Applications, in order for the permits to be issued. 

2.0 Purpose   

To consider the merits of a proposal for three variances: to reduce the minimum side yard 
setback abutting residential development, to reduce the minimum landscape buffer, and to 
reduce the minimum setback for vehicle parking. 

Council is also asked to consider the form and character of the proposed three-storey 
retail/office building on the subject property. 

3.0 Urban Planning Department 

Overall, Urban Planning staff are supportive of both the Development Permit and Development 
Variance Permit applications. Neither application is without challenges, and the merits of each is 
considered separately below. 

Development Permit: 

The form and character of the proposed building is generally of a high quality and injects a fresh, 
modern esthetic into the area. The colour and material palette takes its inspiration from tourist-
oriented development areas of the city to the north. Certainly, the building achieves many of the 
objectives of the Official Community Plan. But, it does represent a departure in character from 
other recent development in the immediate vicinity, which tend to reflect more traditional 
architectural forms. 

Despite that, this commercial node is evolving and intensifying, and the proposed building sets a 
new standard of design for the gradual redevelopment of this area in the coming years. 

Development Variance Permit: 

The three variances requested are all focused on the same portion of the building, where 
approximately 5.6m of the south elevation abuts the north parcel line of the adjacent Lexington 
bareland strata development. The applicant has met both with individuals within the strata and 
with the strata council for the development, and has not received any significant concerns.  

From a planning perspective, the variances are minor in nature and are not seen to affect the 
privacy of the residents of the Lexington. Typically, in instances where a commercial building 
interfaces with residential development, staff would be seeking a high level of design detail, 
building relief, articulation and scale that act as a comfortable transition. In this case, the 
portion of the building facing adjoining residential is a firewall. While beneficial from the 
perspective of preserving privacy, it has the potential to have a stark impact in terms of 

43



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 3 

 
 

character. To address this, the applicant has proposed to construct the wall out of faceted blocks 
and to utilize climbing vines, both of which aim to soften the impact of the wall. 

While not an ideal interface with residential, this section is a relatively minor portion of the 
development, and staff are not aware of any negative feedback from the neighbours who would 
be most impacted. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

On September 10, 2013, Council gave 2nd and 3rd readings to the proposed Rezoning for this 
project. As conditions of the Rezoning, the applicant was required to: 

1. Prepare Development Permit and Development Variance Permit applications for 
consideration; 

2. Satisfy the requirements of the Development Engineering Branch; 

3. Register on title a Statutory Right-of-Way for dike maintenance purposes both to the Province 
and to the City; 

4. Register in the Land Titles Office a lot line adjustment on the eastern property line. 

Subsequent to this most recent Council review, the first three items have been addressed. 
However, the applicant has asked that the fourth item be deferred until after the City 
development process, as several complexities have arisen related to the technical means of 
exchanging land with the Province. As a consequence to this, there will be approximately 50m2 of 
Provincial land that is improperly zoned for commercial purposes, as well as a very small area of 
the applicant’s land improperly zoned for bareland strata use. In support of their position, the 
applicant has worked with the Province and has obtained a formal letter in which the Province 
advises that it is comfortable with the zoning of its land over the short term, while the applicant 
and Province work together to find the most effective means to achieve the land exchange (see 
attached letter). Should these efforts fail, the applicant has committed to a minor Rezoning to 
ensure that the zoning lines conform to property lines. 

Under Council Policy No. 367, the applicant is expected to conduct Neighbour Consultation 
regarding the proposed variances. This requirement was satisfied during the consultation 
required for the Rezoning at which time the applicant’s efforts included full discussions relating 
to the variances (see attached letter from applicant). 

4.2 Project Description 

General Description: 

The applicant is proposing to construct a three-storey commercial building on the subject 
property, having retail on the ground floor, followed by two storeys of offices. The proposal 
features a covered sidewalk, or “arcade”, that is continued from the development to the south, 
allowing for seamless pedestrian movement between the two lots. The retail units will be 
accessed directly from this sidewalk, as will the lobby for the offices on the upper two storeys. 
There is a service access at the rear of the building for the retail units.  

Vehicle access for the development will be achieved through the use of a cross-access easement 
with the property to the south, using a common entry/exit onto Lakeshore Road across from 
Radant Road. Customer parking is located principally in the front of the parcel, between 
Lakeshore Road and the proposed building. Staff parking is proposed to be located at the rear of 
the property, accessed through a service lane at the north side of the building. Short-term 

44



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 4 

 
 

bicycle parking will be located at the front entrance to the building, and long-term secure bike 
storage is proposed in a “bike box” at the rear of the building. The garbage and recycling 
enclosure is also located at the rear of the building, adjacent to the secure bike parking. 

Form & Character: 

In terms of form and character, the proposed building represents a departure from abutting 
development to the north and south and, taken together with other recent development in the 
area, suggests that this commercial node is undergoing gradual intensification. Existing 
development to the north is representative of the formerly dominant land use pattern in this 
node, featuring single storey buildings, and large parking areas. This is contrasted by the 
proposed building, which brings a three storey massing and a fresh, playful palette to the area, 
pulling its inspiration from more tourist commercial areas further to the north. 

Overall, the building displays a distinctly modern architecture, with a strong focus on linear 
elements and on overall simplicity of form. The architecture relies on repeating rectangular 
elements at various scales to break down the massing of the structure. Further reinforcing this, 
the rectangular elements are often set in contrast to one another using varied finishing 
materials, from different colours of glazing, to a stucco-like cladding system in white and orange. 
Wood is used as an accent material. 

The southern wall presented the applicant team and City staff with a challenge. At near zero lot 
line, fire-related code requirements leave limited design options, and this building elevation 
interfaces directly with the adjacent development to the south. In response, the applicant team 
is proposing the use of faceted blocks and vines to add dimension and texture to the building 
face. 

The proposed landscaping includes robust plantings along the Lakeshore Road frontage using 
Armstrong Maple and a mixture of hedges and grasses. The applicant team is also re-establishing 
a riparian area using native plantings at the rear of the site, abutting the Mission Creek dike. The 
details of this proposal will be dealt with at a staff level through a Natural Environment 
Development Permit. 

Variances: 

According to the applicant team, the sizing of the footprint of the building is in large part due to 
the construction system that is proposed for use, which has restricted dimensions. As a result, 
the outer envelope of the building is not easily adjusted, and extends along the southern 
property line and interfaces for approximately 5.6m with the residential development to the 
south (the Lexington). This triggers two of the three variances, including side yard setback and 
landscape buffer.  

The final variance aims to reduce the setback for vehicle parking stalls from 1.5m to 0.0m. This 
variance may limit the functionality of two parking stalls, as reversing movements out of the 
stalls would be challenging; however, this is not seen to be a significant issue, as this parking 
area is principally intended to accommodate staff parking. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is approximately 1,871m2 in area and is located on the east side of 
Lakeshore Road, south of the Mission Creek bridge. The lot is presently empty, but formerly 
contained a dentist’s office building. The lot is within the Permanent Growth Boundary, but is 
not within any Urban or Village Centres. 

The surrounding neighbourhood is characterized by a mix of commercial, service and residential 
uses. The lots fronting the east side of Lakeshore Road south of the Mission Creek bridge are 

45



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 5 

 
 

gradually developing into a neighbourhood/community commercial centre, with a mix of retail 
and office development.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
C2RLS – Neighbourhood Commercial (Retail 
Liquor Sales) 

Creekside Pub 
Liquor Store  

East Mission Creek Mission Creek 

South 
C2 – Neighbourhood Commercial 
RU5 – Bareland Strata 

Mixed retail commercial/apartment 
housing 
The Lexington – bareland strata 

West C2 – Neighbourhood Commercial Petro Canada 

 

Subject Property Map: 3935 Lakeshore Road 
 

 

4.4 Zoning Analysis Table   

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C3 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1,300 m2 1,871 m2 

Lot Width 30.0 m Approx. 25 m * 

Lot Depth 40.0 m exceeds 

Development Regulations 

46



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 6 

 
 

Floor Area Ratio 1.0 0.71 

Site Coverage 50% 26% 

Height 15.0 m / 4 storeys 12.0 m / 3 storeys 

Front Yard 3.0 m 21.0 m 

Side Yard (south) 
0.0 m (abutting commercial) 
2.0 m (abutting residential) 

0.0 m (abutting commercial) 

0.0 m (abutting residential) 

Side Yard (north) 0.0 m 6.0 m 

Rear Yard 0.0 m exceeds 

Other Regulations 

Minimum Parking Requirements 
Office @ 2.5/100m2 GFA + 

Retail @ 2.0/100m2 GFA = 26 
stalls 

28 stalls 

Parking Setbacks 1.5 m from residential 0.0 m from residential 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I = 3 
Class II = 7 

Class I = 3 
Class II = 7 

Loading Space  1 stall  1 stall 

Landscaping 
Front – Level 2 

Side – Level 3 (abutting res) 
Rear – Level 3  

Front – Level 2 

Side – Level 1 (abutting res) 
Rear – Level 3 

 *  the subject property does not need to meet minimum subdivision standards, as no subdivision is proposed. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum side yard setback abutting a residential zone from 2.0m permitted to 0.0m  

    proposed. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum setback for parking areas from 1.5m permitted to 0.0m proposed. 

 Indicates a requested variance to the minimum landscape buffer abutting a non-commercial zone from Level 3 permitted to 

    Level 1 proposed. 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Comprehensive Development Permit Objectives: 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through urban design that is distinctive for Kelowna; 

 Promote a high urban design standard and quality of construction for future development 
that is coordinated with existing structures; 

 Integrate new development with existing site conditions and preserve the character 
amenities of the surrounding area; 

 Promote interesting, pedestrian friendly streetscape design and pedestrian linkages; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of commercial buildings that promotes a safe, enjoyable 
living, pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

 Incorporate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes that define an 
area’s character; 

 Promote alternative transportation with enhanced streetscapes and multimodal linkages; 

 Protect and restore the urban ecology (i.e. architectural and site consideration with respect 
to the ecological impact on urban design). 

 

 

 

47



DVP13-0148/DP13-0105 – Page 7 

 
 

6.0 Technical Comments   

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

1) Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permits. 

2) Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Memoranda, dated September 10, 2013. 

 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: September 10, 2013  
 

Report prepared by: 

     
James Moore, Land Use Planner  
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble-Brandt, Urban Planning Manager 
 
  

Attachments:   

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Colour/Materials Board 
Letter from the Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations 
Letter from Applicant RE: Neighbour Consultation 
Development Engineering Memorandum, dated September 12, 2013 
DRAFT Development Permit / Development Variance Permit 

48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: October 2, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (AR) 

Application: DVP13-0143 Owner: 
Canrim Packaging Ltd.,    
Inc. No. A38958 

Address: 1125 Richter Street Applicant: Gren Weis Architect 

Subject: 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0143 1125 Richter St  

Existing OCP Designation: IND - Industrial 

Existing Zone: I4 – Central Industrial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorizes the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0143 for Lot A, 
Section 30, Township 26, ODYD, Plan 30655, except Plan M15406, located at 1125 Richter Street, 
Kelowna, BC; 
 
AND FURTHER THAT a variance to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Section 7.6: Minimum Landscape Buffers, Table 7.1 Treatment Levels Schedule, Industrial Zone 
and Sections 7.6.1(c) & 7.6.9(h) 
To vary the minimum required landscaped buffer on Vaughan Avenue from 3.0 m required to 0.1 
m proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’; 
 
Section 8.1.10(c) – Off Street Vehicle Parking 
To vary the minimum required parking setback on Vaughan Avenue from 2 m required to 0.1 m 
proposed, as per Schedule ‘A’. 

2.0 Purpose  

The purpose of the application is to seek certain variances to Zoning Bylaw 8000 to facilitate the 
redevelopment of an accessory parking area to serve a proposed new winery retail store and 
tasting room in an existing industrial winery building on the subject property. 
 
The application proposes a variance to the minimum required parking setback on Vaughan Avenue 
from 2 m required to 0.1 m proposed, and to the minimum required landscape buffer on Vaughan 
Avenue from 3 m required to 0.1 m proposed.  

  

69



DVP13-0143 – Page 2 

 
 

3.0 Urban Planning  

Urban Planning staff is supportive of the proposed variances to reduce the required parking 
setback and landscape buffer along the Vaughan Avenue frontage. While the variances are 
seeking in essence a 100% relaxation in both instances, the overall improvements proposed for 
the existing building and parking area at the northeast corner of Richter Street and Vaughan 
Avenue will significantly benefit the visual attractiveness of this portion of the site and the 
surrounding area.  

At present there is no parking setback or landscaped area provided along the Vaughan Avenue 
frontage, nor any City boulevard (see attached site photos). With the development of the 
improved parking area for the new winery retail store and tasting room, the proponent proposes 
to develop the City boulevard and to landscape it in accordance with City requirements. Further, 
the proponent proposes to provide substantial landscaping along the Richter Street frontage with 
trees, planting beds, a seating area, and decorative paving. Through review of the accompanying 
Development Permit application, staff will seek landscape improvements within the City 
boulevard to screen the proposed parking area from Vaughan Avenue.  

Given the existing non-conforming condition of the site along the Vaughan Avenue frontage (with 
no parking setback, landscaping, or City boulevard) and given the arguably negligible impact for 
existing adjacent industrial properties, staff believes that neighbour notification is adequately 
satisfied through the formal public notification process and posting of Development Application 
signage.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The extensive 2.5 ha site generally operates as a winery operation for Calona Wines. The 
company proposes to renovate a 790 m2 area of the existing building at the northwest corner of 
Richter Street and Vaughan Avenue to accommodate a new winery retail store and tasting room. 
This moderized area would accommodate visitors wanting to learn about the production process, 
as well as taste and purchase winery products.  

To accommodate the proposed retail and tasting area, an accessory parking area for 20 vehicle 
parking spaces is required in close proximity. The existing paved area directly south of the 
proposed retail store and tasting room is proposed to be developed as an accessory parking area, 
with significant public realm and landscape improvements along the Richter Street and Vaughan 
Avenue frontages. However, given the existing placement of the building, and the necessity to 
provide minimum dimensions for parking spaces and drive aisle, variances are requested to 
parking setback and landscape buffer requirements along the Vaughan Avenue frontage. 
Specifically, the application seeks to vary the minimum required parking setback from Vaughan 
Avenue from 2 m required to 0.1 m proposed, and to vary the minimum required landscape 
buffer along Vaughan Avenue from 3 m required to 0.1 m proposed.  

Renovations to the building’s exterior for the proposed winery retail store and tasting room are 
also proposed along the Richter Street and Vaughan Avenue frontages at this time. They include 
removal of the existing stucco finish and introduction of contemporary design details, including 
wood screen, glass, aluminium trim, and a feature laminate panel wall. The proposed building 
renovations will be reviewed under a separate Development Permit (DP) Application for form and 
character.  

  

70



DVP13-0143 – Page 3 

 
 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject site is located in Kelowna’s central industrial area, immediately east of the 
Downtown Urban Centre area across Richter Street. The property is comprised of a 2.5 ha parcel 
with an extensive winery operation (Calona Wines) and related buildings. The portion of the 
property proposed to be renovated and improved is located at the southwest corner of the site, 
at the northeast corner of Richter Street and Vaughan Avenue. The surrounding area is largely 
characterized by traditional industrial development.  

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North I2 – General Industrial Industrial 

East I4 – Central Industrial Industrial 

South I4 – Central Industrial Industrial 

West I4 – Central Industrial Industrial 

 

Subject Property Map: 1125 Richter Street 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies 

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Comprehensive Development Permit Area Urban Design Guideline Objectives: 

 Promote a high urban design standard and quality of construction for future development that 
is coordinated with existing structure; 

 Integrate new development with existing site conditions and preserve the character amenities 
of the surrounding area;  

Area of proposed 

improvements 

71



DVP13-0143 – Page 4 

 
 

 Promote interesting, pedestrian friendly streetscape design and pedestrian linkages;  

 Provide for a scale and massing of commercial buildings that promotes a safe, enjoyable 
living, pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Structural Engineering schedules and drawings are required for the changes to the existing 
building at time of permit application.  

 The Building Permit drawings are to clearly identify the fire separation assemblies and the 
code analysis is to identify exit travel distances. 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached Development Engineering Memorandum, dated September 27, 2013. 

6.3 Fire Department 

Ensure that the addressing of this building remains and that the renovation is not addressed off of 
Vaughn Avenue. 

6.4 FortisBC (Electrical) 

There are primary distribution facilities along Richter Street, Vaughan Avenue and Bailie Avenue.  
The applicant is responsible for costs associated with changes to the existing services, if 
required, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. Otherwise, FortisBC 
Inc. (Electric) has no concerns with this circulation. 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Complete Application Received: August 30, 2013 
Revised Materials Received:   September 26, 2013  

Report prepared by: 

     
Abigail Riley, Urban Planner  
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Manager, Urban Planning 

Approved for Inclusion:        Doug Gilchrist, Divisional Director, Community Planning & 
Real Estate Services 

Attachments:  

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan 
Context/Site Photos 
September 26, 2013 Development Engineering Memorandum 
Draft Development Variance Permit 

72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: September 27th, 2013 

RIM No. 0940-50 

To: City Manager 

From: Strategic Planning, Community Sustainability (AW) 

Application: DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 Owner: City of Kelowna 

Address: 555 Buckland Ave. & 550 Rowcliffe Ave. Applicant: Meiklejohn Architects Inc. 

Subject: 2013-10-22 Report DP13-0131 DVP13-0132 Buckland and Rowcliffe  

Existing OCP Designation: Multiple Unit Residential – Medium Density 

Existing Zone: CD22 – Central Green Comprehensive Development Zone 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Permit No. DP13-0131 for Lot 5 D.L. 14 
ODYD Plan KAP92715, located at 555 Buckland Avenue, Lot 6 D.L. 14 ODYD Plan KAP92715, 
located at 550 Rowcliffe Avenue, Kelowna, BC, Kelowna B.C., subject to the following: 
 
1. The dimensions and siting of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule "A"; 
 
2. The exterior design and finish of the building to be constructed on the land be in general 
accordance with Schedule “B”; 
 
3. Landscaping to be provided on the land be in general accordance with Schedule "C"; 
 
4. The applicant be required to post with the City a Landscape Performance Security deposit  
in the form of a "Letter of Credit" in the amount of 125% of the estimated value of the 
landscaping, as determined by a professional landscaper; 
 
5.       Consolidation of the subject properties into a single title prior to issuance of the 
Development Permit; 
 
AND THAT the applicant be required to complete the above-noted condition No. 4 within 180 
days of Council approval of the Development Permit application in order for the permit to be 
issued. 
 
AND THAT Council authorize the issuance of Development Variance Permit No. DVP13-0132 for 
Lot 5 D.L. 14 ODYD Plan KAP92715, located at 555 Buckland Avenue, Lot 6 D.L. 14 ODYD Plan 
KAP92715, located at 550 Rowcliffe Avenue, Kelowna, BC, Kelowna, B.C.;  

81



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 2 
 

 
AND FURTHER THAT variances to the following sections of Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 be granted: 
 
Schedule ‘B’ Comprehensive Development Zones: CD22 – Central Green Comprehensive 
Development Zone, Section 1.5.3 (after Table 1 – Parking) - To permit surface parking and 
loading where below grade and screened parking and loading are required.  

2.0 Purpose  

To consider a Development Permit for the form and character of the proposed 70 unit supportive 
housing development. To consider a Development Variance Permit to vary the requirement that 
all parking and loading be below grade or under building and screened from view to allow surface 
parking.  

3.0 Strategic Planning  

Staff are supportive of the proposal, as it is seen to meet the objectives and supporting policies 
of the Official Community Plan (OCP). The proposal is also broadly in line with the CD22 – Central 
Green Development Permit Area Guidelines. The subject property is located within the 
Downtown Urban Centre, within close proximity to the commercial core and adjacent to the 
future Rowcliffe Community Park where residential intensification has long been anticipated. The 
proposal is also the first project to come forward as part of the City led Central Green initiative.   

The building represents a more contemporary form of architecture, the finishes are of a high 
quality, featuring contrasting horizontal and vertical blocks of materials that serve to reduce 
massing and to emphasize building articulation. The building is also hinged in the middle which 
helps to provide additional articulation and break up what would otherwise be one long building 
frontage. Locating the building adjacent to the park will help to animate and provide additional 
eyes on the park while moving the building mass away from the existing single family 
neighbourhood to the west. Staff encouraged the applicant to take design inspiration from the 
adjacent heritage conservation area but the applicant’s floor plans and programming were more 
conducive to a flat roofed building with programmable patio space. Although Staff would prefer 
that the project satisfied the underbuilding parking requirement the logistics of accomplishing 
this on a project of this scale is difficult. In Staff’s opinion, allowing limited vehicular movements 
and parking on the fringe of the Central Green project for Sub-Areas E & F will not have a 
significant impact on this overall objective. Future developments with larger buildings should be 
able to satisfy this requirement.  

In summary, this project delivers on many aspects of both land use and urban design that are 
encouraged for Central Green and other Downtown Urban Centre revitalization efforts. 
Importantly, the project will satisfy two of the crucial Central Green objectives with the 
provision of 30 supportive housing units and a LEED Certified building.     

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Project Description 

The proposal is broadly in line with the CD22 – Central Green Development Permit Area 
Guidelines. Although the project doesn’t have historic references to the adjacent Marshall Street 
Heritage Conservation Area design guidelines and doesn’t have its main entrance facing Rowcliffe 
Avenue as suggested in the Design Guidelines it does provide for a sensitive transition to the 
adjacent single family residences with the bulk of the building located adjacent to the park. The 
proposed development consists of a total of 30 supportive housing units of varying sizes. The 
main floor is programmed with Karis office and common amenity space with a townhouse unit 

82



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 3 
 

located at the end of each building, the 2nd floor provides 18 - 1 bedroom units with a kitchen 
and family room area and the 3rd floor has 8 - 2 bedroom units and 2 – 1 bedroom units. 

Principal vehicular access is provided by a one way drive aisle entering from Rowcliffe and 
exiting onto Buckland. Surface parking for the development is located along the one way drive 
aisle at the centre of the property with a total of 20 stalls being provided. The applicant has 
proposed a variance to the CD22 zone to allow surface parking when one of the overarching goals 
of the Central Green project was to limit onsite vehicular movements and impacts. Long term 
bicycle parking is provided and short term bicycle parking is located near the main entrance. 
Pedestrian circulation is accommodated with a separate onsite sidewalk and the Rowcliffe 
Avenue will be urbanized along the property’s frontage. As part of the proposal the two 
properties will be consolidated into a single property with an additional development phase to be 
coming forward at a later date. The building is representative of a more contemporary aesthetic, 
having a flat roof and clean building lines. While it would have been preferred to the building 
oriented towards Rowcliffe Avenue, the proposal aims to respond to the urban context and 
provide an active use adjacent to Rowcliffe Park. Refer to the applicants attached Design 
Rationale for additional information.   

The proposal compares to Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 as follows: 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA CD22 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 1.0 0.74 

Site Coverage - Buildings 40% 21.1% 

Height 12.0m / 3 Storeys 12.0m / 3 Storeys 

Front Yard 3.0m 3.0m 

Side Yard (east) 3.0m 7.5m 

Side Yard (west) 3.0m 15.0m  

Rear Yard 3.0m 36.0m 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirement 
Maximum Parking Requirement 

16 stalls  
16 x 125% = 20 stalls 

20 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 
Class I: 1 
Class II: 5 

Class I: 1 
Class II: 5 

Private Open Space 330m2 524m2 

¹ Variance to permit surface parking and loading where below grade and screened parking and loading are required. 

4.2 Site Context 

The subject properties are located within the Downtown Urban Centre adjacent to the future 
Rowcliffe Park to the east and the Marshall Street Heritage Conservation Area to the west. 
Adjacent land uses are as follows: 

 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing Apartment Housing 

East CD22 – Central Green Future Park 

South RM5 – Medium Density Multiple Housing Apartment Housing 

West RU6 – Two Dwelling Housing Single Family Residential 

 
 
 

83



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 4 
 

Subject Property Map: 555 Buckland Ave. & 550 Rowcliffe Ave. 
 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

5.1.1 Development Process (Chapter 5) - Considerations in Reviewing Development Applications 
 

Objective 5.8 Achieve high quality urban design. 
 

Streetscaping (Policy 2). Urban Centre roads should be considered as part of the public 
space and streetscaped with full amenities (i.e. sidewalks, trees and other planting, 
furniture, bike facilities, boulevards, etc.). 

 
Ensure opportunities are available for greater use of active transportation and transit 
to: improve community health; reduce greenhouse gas emissions; and increase 
resilience in the face of higher energy prices (Objective 5.10) 
 
Maximize Pedestrian / Cycling Connectivity. Require that pedestrian and cyclist 
movement and infrastructure be addressed in the review and approval of all City and 
private sector developments, including provision of sidewalks and trails and recognition of 
frequently used connections and informal pedestrian routes.  
Transit Infrastructure. Require that transit service needs to be integrated into 
community designs and development proposals to optimize access to transit service and 
incorporate essential infrastructure on transit routes identified. 

84



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 5 
 

 
5.1.2 Urban Design Development Permit Areas (Chapter 14) – Revitalization Design Guidelines 
 

Objectives 

 Use appropriate architectural features and detailing of buildings and landscapes to 
define area character; 

 Convey a strong sense of authenticity through high quality urban design that is 
distinctive of Kelowna; 

 Enhance the urban centre’s main street character in a manner consistent with the 
area’s character; 

 Provide for a scale and massing of buildings that promotes an enjoyable living, 
pedestrian, working, shopping and service experience; 

 Encourage an appropriate mix of uses and housing types and sizes; 

 Design and facilitate beautiful public open spaces that encourage year-round 
enjoyment; 

 Create open, architecturally-pleasing and accessible building facades to the street; 
and 

 Improve existing streets and sidewalks to promote alternative transportation. 
 

Guidelines 
Relationship to the Street (Objective 2.0) 

 Ensure streetwall height is proportional (0.75:1 maximum) to the width of the street 
as measured from building face to building face. Any development that exceeds this 
height must utilize a podium and step back above the streetwall; 

 Provide for public movement, street furniture, and building access zones to be 
incorporated into sidewalks adjacent to development; 

 Design buildings to occupy 100% of a property’s frontage along streets, eliminating 
elements that disrupt the streetwall such as off-street parking, dead spaces, empty 
lots, or driveways; 

 Coordinate building setbacks with adjacent sidewalks to increase the space for public 
use (i.e., utilize a building setback or building indentation as a patio space or seating 
area, incorporate corner rounding into the public realm with specialized paving 
treatment and street furniture); 

 Provide a high quality public realm consistent with the character of urban 
development (i.e. incorporate focal points/plazas, pedestrian pathways, parks and 
open space, enhanced streetscapes, and landscaping). 

 
5.2 CD22 – Central Green Development Permit Area Design Guidelines 
 
Site- Specific Design Guidelines - Sub-Areas E and f 

 Building siting and massing of Buildings E and F should generally conform to Plan CG-1. 

 Building E should be set back a sufficient distance from the sidewalk edge along Rowcliffe 
to create a transition space that clearly demarcates the public realm from the private. 
Private outdoor amenity space associated with ground-level units can be provided within 
this space. 

 Buildings E and F should be set back a sufficient distance from the sidewalk edge located 
along the east side of the site, to create a transition space that clearly demarcates the 
public realm from the private. Private outdoor amenity space associated with ground-
level units can be provided within this space. 

85



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 6 
 

 Buildings E and F should respect the adjacent single-unit residences. It is recommended 
that the massing of Buildings E and F step down to a height that approximates the height 
of the buildings on the adjoining properties. Additionally, the setbacks of Buildings E and 
F from Rowcliffe Avenue and Buckland Avenue respectfully, should not be less than the 
setbacks of the adjacent buildings from these streets. 

 The principal entrance to Building E should be clearly identifiable from Rowcliffe Avenue. 

 The principal entrance to Building F should be clearly identifiable from Buckland Avenue. 

 Use of historic references, e.g., details, building forms, etc. that complement the 
character of the adjacent Marshall Street Heritage Conservation Area is encouraged. 

6.0 Technical Comments  

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any 
Building Permit(s); 

 This building may be required to be of non-combustible construction with sprinklers 
throughout. This building appears to contain a group A3 major occupancy on the main 
floor and a group B3 major occupancy on the 2nd floor, so the allowances of group C 
shown on the drawings for the entire building would not apply. Any proposed deviance 
from this requirement of BCBC 12 requires an approved alternate solution report and 
approval by the chief Building Inspector prior to the release of the Development 
Permit.  

 This property falls within the Mill Creek flood plain bylaw area and compliance is 
required. Minimum building elevations are required to be established prior to the 
release of the Development Permit. This building may be designed to low, which may 
affect the form and character of the building.  

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit 
applications, but the following items may affect the form and character of the 
building(s): 

o The Main floor appears to have the allowable travel distance exceeded for the 
allowance of one exit. An addition door may be required or redesign of the 
space 

o Any security system that limits access to exiting needs to be addressed in the 
code analysis by the architect (2nd floor), so additional exits may be required 
from the building (occupancy class dependent). 

o The exits from the 2nd & 3rd floors appear not to meet minimum code 
requirements (number of exits, travel distance, interconnected floor space, 
dead end cooridors etc).  

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions.  

 Guards are required for all decks. The drawings provided don’t clearly identify these 
requirements, but will be reviewed at time of building permit application. 

 A fire resistance ratings are required for storage, janitor and/or garbage enclosure 
room(s). The drawings submitted for building permit are to clearly identify how this 
rating will be achieved and where these area(s) are located. 

 Access to any mechanical rooms at roof level are required or access to the roofs are 
required 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications. The mechanical engineer to have all layouts of the NFPA canopy hood(s) 
and fire suppression design included for plan review at time of permit application. 
 

86



DP13-0131 / DVP13-0132 – Page 7 
 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See attached memorandum. 

6.3 Infrastructure Planning 

All concerns have been addressed, however, please provide detailed grading information 
for review at time of civil engineering drawing submission.Bylaw Services – No concerns 

7.0 Application Chronology  

Date of Application Received: August 13th, 2013 

Report prepared by: 

     
Alec Warrender, Land Use Planner  
 

Reviewed by:   Ryan Smith, Manager, Strategic Planning 
 

Approved Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Community Planning & Real Estate Divisional Director 

 

Attachments: 

Subject Property Map 
Site Plan  
Elevations & Renderings 
Landscape Plan 
Applicant’s Parking Variance Rationale 
Development Engineering Requirements 

87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109


	Agenda
	3. Minutes - September 24 Regular Meeting.pdf
	4.1 Bylaw No.10890.pdf
	6.1 Bylaw No. 10874 (Z13-0025).pdf
	6.1.1 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0091 2253 Wilkinson Street.docx
	6.1.1 2013-10-22 Attachments DVP13-0091 2253 Wilkinson St.pdf
	6.2 2013-10-08 Report DVP13-0122 4052 Finch Rd.docx
	6.2 2013-10-08 Attachments DVP13-0122.pdf
	6.3 DVP13-0130 Report to Council.docx
	6.3 dvp13-0130 attachments.pdf
	6.4 Bylaw No. 10885 (Z13-0028).pdf
	6.4.1 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0148_DP13-0105 3935 Lakeshore Rd.docx
	6.4.1 2013-10-22 Attachments DVP13-0148 DP13-0105 3935 Lakeshore Rd.pdf
	6.5 2013-10-22 Report DVP13-0143 1125 Richter St.docx
	6.5 2013-10-22 Attachments DVP13-0143 1125 Richter St.pdf
	6.6 2013-10-22 Report DP13-0131 DVP13-0132 Buckland and Rowcliffe.docx
	6.6 2013-10-22 Attachments DP13-0131 DVP13-0132.pdf

